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Introduction
Part 1 of the Commons Act 2006 provides for the review and updating of the commons registers. As part of this process, applications to register land as common that failed under the 1965 Commons Registration Act may in certain cases be reconsidered. The cases that qualify are defined by Schedule 2(4) of the 2006 Act. Where an application under Schedule 2(4) is successful, the land in question will be added to the commons register (‘re-registered’).

This report examines the potential impact of Schedule 2(4) on the Hertfordshire Commons Register. It draws on a number of sources including the register entries; the Commons Commissioners’ Decision Letters; the files retained by the County Council relating to the original registration process; and the historical records held by Hertfordshire Archives (HALS). The primary aim is to identify the areas in Hertfordshire that are eligible for re-registration. The report, however, is also intended – together with an earlier report on Lancashire – as an assessment of the sources of information referred to here and an indication of the extent to which they may provide the evidence needed to support applications for the re-registration of common land.

The present report covers much the same ground as the earlier Lancashire report. There are, however, some contrasts of structure and content that require explanation here. These are the result of significant differences in the records held by the two authorities on the 1965 Act registration process and of the way in which these records have been archived. In the case of Lancashire, individual CL and VG units are assigned a separate file containing all of the documents related to that unit, including the official forms, correspondence, evidence submitted etc; and any information, notes or comments produced by the authority’s own staff. The Hertfordshire files are less comprehensive. The arrangement of the archive is also quite different. The records – which are, for the most part, the official records – have been ordered (roughly) according to the successive stages of the registration process, and are grouped together as application files, objection files, referral files, etc that are referenced by the relevant (application, objection…) number. There are some advantages in this arrangement: applications or objections made by the same party, for example, may be found together. However, in order to access the files related to a particular CL or VG unit, it is necessary to consult all the file series referred to above. An outline of the common land records held by HALS will be found at Appendix I. To facilitate access to the different file series, an Index has been produced cross-referencing the series numbers. The Index is available at: www.commonsreregistration.org.uk/furtherinf.html
A set of Case Assessment Sheets has already been produced for the pilot-area registers covering all of the land that was provisionally but not finally registered under the 1965 Act (i.e. the areas that may now be eligible for re-registration). The Sheets provide an assessment of these areas for each register, showing which of the individual CL units comes within the application criteria defined by Schedule 2(4)(2)–(5). If this land is to qualify for re-registration, it must be shown that it is still ‘waste of a manor’. For this to be true, it would need to satisfy two further requirements: (i) the land in question must be – or have been at some time in the past – ‘of a manor’; and (ii) it must still be waste land (‘open, uncultivated and unoccupied’). The present report is concerned with the first of these requirements. The second is largely to do with the physical state of the land; the proof of which would need to draw on photographic evidence produced as the result of a site visit or on map-based information related to land-cover or land-use. Where, then, it is indicated in the report that a CL unit is eligible for re-registration, this is with the proviso that it must still be waste land.
The entries in the report are arranged alphabetically by parish or district. References to documents held by Hertfordshire Archives are listed at the end of each entry ([HALS Ref: ]). For the most part, these references are taken from the on-line catalogue, which is available at: www.hertsdirect.org/libsleisure/heritage1/HALS/. The area shown in brackets for each CL unit (ha = hectares) is for the land that was originally registered (cf Hertfordshire Search Sheet).
[This report was produced as part of a public-interest project funded by the Joseph Rowntree Reform Trust Ltd. The results of the project are available at: www.commonsreregistration.org.uk]
Steve Byrne

26th February 2010
Aldbury
CL 86 (W) Aldbury Open Fields & Lammas Land (153.00 ha)
CL 86 was registered by Aldbury Parish Council. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
There does not seem to be any record of why this registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. All or most of the CL 86 land is marked on the Tithe Map of 1840 as (tithable) arable or meadow. Whether or not it is still in some kind of common use, the land could only be re-registered now under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it qualified as ‘waste of a manor’. Insofar as they are arable land, this could not be true of the open fields; though it might possibly apply in the case of the lammas land.
[HALS Refs: Aldbury Tithe Award and Map (1840) ~ DSA4/2/1 & 2; Index and memoranda book to manorial courts incl Aldbury (1805–1923) ~ D/ELs/M3–5]
The Ashridge Estate & Hudnall Common
CL 47 (Pt) Land at Northchurch & Berkhamsted Common (393.00 ha)
CL 73 (Pt) Aldbury Common, Aldbury (173.90 ha)
CL 74 (Pt) Berkhamsted Common (Pt), Nettleden with Potten End (104.95 ha)
CL 81 (Pt) Hudnall Common, Little Gaddesden (56.16 ha)
These four CL units are either owned or managed by the National Trust. The Trust objected to all but one of the applications (Hudnall Common). All of the objections were similar in their intent and all four disputes were settled by private agreement. Three of the units were registered by Berkhamsted Citizens Association (BCA), the other (CL 47) by Northchurch Parish Council. None of the three BCA applications reached a Hearing. The CL 73 and CL 81 registrations were modified without referral to a commissioner. The changes to CL 74 were agreed under a Decision by Consent (Reg 31), which was confirmed by the commissioner without a Hearing. There was a Hearing for the CL 47 application, but no-one entitled to be heard attended and the commissioner simply confirmed a prior agreement to exclude parts of the land. All of the excluded areas, then, may now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). (NB Part of CL 73 was deregistered under the Rectification of Registers Act 1989).
Though none of them is a matter of public record, the background to these disputes is clearest in the case of Aldbury Common (CL 73). Three areas of land – including two areas of woodland – were excluded on the objection of the National Trust. This seems to have been on the basis of an agreement made between the Trust and the commoners in 1937 concerning rights to take wood, fern and gorse. These common rights were to apply only to fallen wood; and were agreed not to extend to Rail Copse or Old Copse. It would seem, then, that these two areas were excluded on the grounds that they were not subject to rights of common. Both Rail Copse and Old Copse are shown as tithable woodland in the 1840 Tithe Award (parcels 11 & 12). The third area was occupied by a Brick Kiln, Yards, Sheds, and two cottages (parcels 9 & 10).
A small part of CL 74 was finally-registered as VG 11 (Potten End Village Green). The other disputed areas were Great Copse and Little Frithsden Copse. Though there is no evidence of a rights agreement similar to the 1937 Aldbury agreement, both of these areas of woodland are missing from the final registration. In the case of CL 47, the excepted areas included Frithsden Beaches; a number of smaller, circular copses; and a strip of woodland along the inner boundary of the common running north from Hill Farm round to Little Coldharbour Farm. Again, there is no evidence of a formal agreement of the kind applying to Aldbury Common. The final case is Hudnall Common (CL 81). Here, the objector was A J Norfolk of Ark Farm, Hudnall, who claimed that he, as his two predecessors, owned the unencumbered freehold of a plantation that formed part of the original registration area. Again, this land was excluded as the result of a private agreement without referral to a commissioner.

None of these agreements was subject to public scrutiny and all of the excluded areas may now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). This would depend on whether the land was ‘waste of a manor’. In this context, it should be remembered that over a third of the registered commons of Hertfordshire are covered by semi-natural woodland or scrub.
[[HALS Refs: Aldbury Tithe Award and Map (1840) ~ DSA4/2/1 & 2; Little Gaddesden Tithe Award and Map (1839/38) ~ DSA4/41/1 & 2; Little Gaddesden Inclosure Award (1846) ~ QS/E/27; Index and memoranda book to manorial courts incl Northchurch, Aldbury, Great & Little Gaddesden (1805–1923) ~ D/ELs/M3–5; Common Land Records ~ Aldbury Common Rights Agreements, Box 2/3; Common Land Records ~ Map for s193 Deed (MAF 3/53) (Loose Maps stored with Boxes)]

Aston & Datchworth
CL 271 (W) Elm Green, Aston (0.21 ha)
CL 272 (W) Raffin Green, Aston & Datchworth (0.38 ha)
Both of these registrations were made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but were cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). 

The CL 271 objector (to the part of land south of Sheafgreen Lane) was H W J Moss, Brook Hall Farm, Aston. The objector in the case of CL 272 was J Clarke & Co, Raffin Green Farm, Datchworth.
[HALS Refs: Datchworth Tithe Award and Map (1838/39) ~ DSA4/34/1 & 2; Datchworth and Knebworth Inclosure Award and Map (1867) ~ D/P33/26/1; Manor of Aston, court rolls, schedule of court rolls (1334–1789) ~ D/EAS/23-74, 4103]
Barley
CL 316 (W) Old Chalk Pit, Barley (0.14 ha)
CL 317 (W) Chalk Pit north of Bogmoor Road & west of Pinners Cross, Barley
Both of these areas were registered by Hertfordshire and Middlesex Trust for Nature Conservation. The registrations were cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
According to W Doggett (The Manor, Barley) the Old Chalk Pit (CL 316) had been filled in by Hitchin BDC and the intention in May 1970 was that it should be brought into cultivation. The land may still be capable of re-registration if the intention to cultivate was not carried through; or if the land had otherwise reverted to waste. (NB extract from Inclosure Award in file).
[HALS Refs: Barley Inclosure Award (1813) ~ D/P14 29/8; Barley Copies extracts Barley Inclosure Award (1819–22) ~ 5584-5, 5633; Barley Tithe Award and Map (1839/43) ~ DSA4/13/1 & 2; Common Land Records ~ Objection files]

Bayford
CL 273 (W) Strip of land to the east of Ashendene Road, Bayford (0.68 ha)
The registration was made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
Objection by a ‘Trustee’ of the land that there had been no manor ‘during the past 200 years’ i.e. since 1770.
[HALS Refs: Bayford Tithe Award and Map (1838) ~ DSA4/15/1 & 2]

Berkhamsted (Northchurch)
CL 76 (W) Long Green, Northchurch (1.01 ha)

CL 77 (W) Sandpit Green, Northchurch (7.00 ha)

Both areas were registered by Berkhamsted Citizens Association but the registrations were cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).

The objector was The Thomas Coram Foundation for Children, the owner of CL 77 and of the southern part of CL 76.
[HALS Refs: Northchurch Tithe Award and Map (1840/39) ~ DSA4/73/1 & 2; Northchurch Inclosure Award and Map (1864) ~ QS/E/53; Index and memoranda book to manorial courts incl Northchurch (1805–1923) ~ D/ELs/M3–5]

Bovingdon
CL 79 (W) Bovingdon Green (4.10 ha)

CL 205 (C) Manorial waste by Newhouse Farm, Bovingdon (0.29 ha)

The CL 79 registration was made by Berkhamsted Citizens Association but was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). CL 205 was registered by Hemel Hempstead RDC. The registration was objected to by the owner, John Hadland (Photographic Instrumentation) Ltd.
The status of CL 205 is uncertain. The registration is recorded in the land section of the register as undisputed/final – but the land is hatched on the register map, with no indication that this relates e.g. to the Rectification of Registers Act 1989. There are two Decision Letters for CL 205. The first [16/D/10] confirms a Decision by Consent and therefore includes no details of any changes that may have been made to the original registration. The second [216/U/7] concerns the ownership of the area of land that was finally-registered. No-one appeared at the Hearing, where the land was found to have no known owner and was placed in the protection of the local authorities under s9 of the 1965 Act.
[HALS Refs: Bovingdon Tithe Award and Map (1838) ~ DSA4/22/1 & 2; Common Land Records ~ Map CL 205, Box 2/3]

Brickendon Liberty, Broxbourne & Hoddesdon
CL 87 (C) Broxbourne Common and Martins Green, Brickendon Liberty (4.36 ha)

CL 174 (W) Part of Broxbourne Common, Brickendon Liberty (5.83 ha)

CL 175 (W) Part of the Lane between Martins Green & Red Hills, Brickendon Liberty (0.11 ha)

CL 176 (W) Land known as Red Hills and Elbow Lane, Brickendon Liberty (5.55 ha)

CL 179 (Pt) Roadside verges either side of Pembridge Lane, Brickendon Liberty (5.80 ha)

CL 180 (W) Verges on White Stubbs Lane including Coldhall Green & Emmanuel Pollards, Brickendon Liberty (13.12 ha)

CL 181 (W) Back Lane and Fanshaws Lane, Brickendon Liberty (2.67 ha)

CL 87 was registered by The Hoddesdon Trustees of Open Spaces and Recreation Grounds. No-one entitled to be heard attended the Hearing and the registration was therefore rejected. It was in conflict with VGs 43, 54 & 112, but the VG applications also failed. The six remaining areas were registered by Brickendon Liberty Parish Council. All but one of these registrations was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The CL 179 registration was in conflict with VG 47, but the VG application failed and the land was registered as common land except for certain areas that had been ‘severed’ from the manor by their sale to Hertfordshire County Council. These excluded areas may now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(3). In the other six cases, the land may be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
Excepting CL 181 (Back Lane and Fanshaws Lane) and CL 176 (Land known as Red Hills and Elbow Lane), all of the CL units listed above are subject to the Broxbourne and Hoddesdon Open Spaces and Recreation Grounds Act (1890). In the case of CL 181, the objectors were the Executors of W & R Wallace, Walmer Green, Knebworth. In the objection form, it is stated that the land belonged to the Wallaces ‘by virtue of their being Lords of Manor of Brickendon’, thus confirming the manorial status of CL 181. If it is still ‘waste’, then, the land will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). The status of CL 176 is less clear. However, in the absence of an objection from the Lords of Manor of Brickendon, it would be reasonable to assume that the land lies within the adjacent manor of Broxbourne (as do the units subject to the 1890 Act).

The remaining five CL units are all included in the map annexed to the 1890 Act. With the exception of CL 175 and a small area of land towards the western end of CL 179 the units are coloured green on the map. These green areas are dedicated in the Act to public use as if the whole of the land formed part of a public highway. CL 175 and the part of CL 179 referred to above are coloured brown and are dedicated under Schedule 3 of the Act as public carriageways.

In order to qualify for re-registration under Schedule 2(4), the land in question must be, or have been at some time in the past, ‘of a manor’. In his Decision Letter concerning CL 179 [216/D/56] the commissioner accepted that the whole of this CL unit was waste of the manor of Broxbourne, on the grounds that the land affected by the 1890 Act was gifted by Mr & Mrs Smith Bosanquet and that ‘Mr Smith Bosanquet was in 1890 lord of the manor of Broxbourne in right of his wife’. This assumption is further confirmed in the recital at p 2 of the Act, where it is stated that the Bosanquets ‘are desirous in the public interest to surrender such rights as they have to enclose the strips of land and common or waste land described in the Second Schedule to this Act’ (i.e. the land coloured green on the map). It is more than probable, then, that all of the green-coloured land was waste of the manor of Broxbourne and will therefore qualify now for re-registration under Schedule 2(4).
To summarise: CL 181 is, or was, waste of the manor of Brickendon; and CL 176 was very probably waste of the adjacent manor of Broxbourne. CL 87, CL 174, CL 180 and all but a small part of CL 179, as land coloured green on the 1890 map, were also waste of the manor of Broxbourne. These six areas are therefore eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5); whilst the parts of CL 179 that failed to be finally-registered will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(3). CL 175 and a small part of CL 179 are shown on the 1890 map as carriageways (i.e. coloured brown). Note, however, that s21 of the 1890 Act places restrictions on the inclosure of these areas; with the possible implication that any marginal land not forming part of the carriageway itself retains its status as waste of the manor of Broxbourne.
[HALS Refs: Broxbourne and Hoddesdon Open Spaces and Recreation Grounds Act, 53 and 54 Vict c XLVII (1890) ~ D/P24/29/9; Deposited Plans, Broxbourne and Hoddesdon Open Spaces showing recreation ground (1890–1935) ~ QS Highway diversions, 500 A-E; Recreation ground, proposed layout (1937) ~ D/EMo/P1; Hoddesdon Tithe Award and Map (1841/2) ~ DSA4/54/1 & 2; Inclosure Award and Map (1855) ~ QS/E/39A & 39B]

Buntingford
CL 184 (W) Poors Land, Westmill, Buntingford (0.71 ha)
The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
CL 221 (W) Market Hill, Buntingford (0.18 ha)
CL 221 was registered by Buntingford Parish Council. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner and the land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
CL 222 (C) Part of The Causeway, Buntingford (0.33 ha)
The land was registered by Buntingford Parish Council. From the evidence presented at the Hearing, the commissioner concluded that, though it was of manorial origin, the land was not waste but had been part of the manorial demesne. 
The commissioner’s Decision on CL 222 [16/D/28–9] is more than a little peremptory. It ignores the fact that most of the land is shown on the Tithe Map of 1838 as non-tithable; and seems to be based solely on the title of the 1744 map presented at the Hearing (‘A Survey of the demesne land…’ (see HALS ref below)). There would appear, however, to be no remedy under Schedule 2(4)(3) or 2(4)(4) – the commissioner accepted that the land was ‘of a manor’; and did consider (but rejected) the possibility that it was ‘waste’.
[HALS Refs: A Survey of the Demesne Land of the Manour of Corney Bury, in the Hundred of Edwinstree…by Philip Jackson. 1032a (1744) ~ 54835 (This is the 1744 map referred to in the Decision Letter); Buntingford (Layston) Tithe Map (1838–1936) ~ DSA4/65/1–9; Buntingford (Layston) Inclosure Award and Map (1864) ~ D/EH/P28; Manor of Corneybury: perambulation of bounds and survey; field books and index to court books…(1802–1913) ~ 75565-74]
Cheshunt (Goffs Oak)
CL 32 (W) The Hundred Acres, Goffs Oak, Cheshunt (40.50 ha)
The registration was made by The Trustees of the Common Rights of Cheshunt. It was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The application to register CL 32 was made in May 1967 by the Trustees. Twenty-nine rights applications – to graze horses, sheep or cattle from 12 May to 2 Feb or ‘to receive [a] dividend in lieu of same’ – were then made between June 1967 And April 1968. A request to withdraw the land registration was submitted to the Commons Registration Authority (CRA) on 17 Jan 1969, on the grounds that the land was ‘no longer common grazing but a capital asset of the Trust’. The land and rights registrations were all cancelled on 31 Jan 1969. The request for a withdrawal, which was made on the advice of the County Archivist, was probably based on the Charity Commissioners’ Circular of August 1968. This Circular, which was sent to all CRAs, advised against the registration of land held under a charitable trust as common land.
The Hundred Acres was created under an Inclosure Act of 1799 (39 Geo II Ch 75). The 1804 Award describes the manors in Cheshunt, the Lords or Ladies of which were to be allotted land for their rights in the soil of Cheshunt Common. A hundred acres was also to be allotted out of the common to ‘The Lord of the Manor of Cheshunt, the Vicar, Churchwarden and Overseers of the Poor of the Parish of Cheshunt’ to be held by them and their successors ‘who shall stand seized thereof for the use of certain occupiers of cottages’. A Schedule is included in the Award listing the cottages with the right ‘to depasture one Horse, two Cows or other neat Cattle or seven Sheep…on the Common Allotment of One Hundred Acres’.
Clearly, then, prior to the inclosure of Cheshunt Common the land comprising The Hundred Acres was waste of the manor of Cheshunt. If it is still ‘waste’ (i.e. if it has not been developed or improved in some way), the land is now eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). It should be remembered that the land is not subject to rights of common: the cottagers’ rights are not common rights but are exercised by virtue of the trust. Given that it is ‘of a manor’ in the required sense, the key question is whether or not the land is still ‘waste’.
[HALS Refs: Plan of Cottagers' Common, or Hundred Acres, in the Parish of Cheshunt allotted under the Cheshunt Inclosure Act (1816) ~ D/P29/26/2; Cheshunt Inclosure Award (1804) ~ D/P 29/26/3; Cheshunt Tithe Award and Map (1842) ~ DSA4/30/1 & 2]

Codicote
CL 26 (W) Three Hills, Codicote (4.87 ha)
CL 27 (C) Codicote Heath, Codicote (16.91 ha)
The registration of Three Hills was cancelled with the agreement of the applicant, Codicote Parish Council. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). Codicote Heath was also registered by the Parish Council. Though the commissioner accepted that it was waste land, he determined that it had ceased to be connected with the manor and therefore rejected the application. CL 27, then, may be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(3).
In his Decision Letter [16/D/26–7], the commissioner accepted that CL 27 had very probably been waste land of the manor of Codicote in 1803 (a deed of that year, involving the surrender of rights of common over ‘the common or waste known as Codicote Heath’, was produced at the Hearing). The land, however, had subsequently been severed from the manor by the inclosure award of 1819, as a result of which it had passed to the Lord of the Manor, Thomas Brand, as freehold (i.e. land that was no longer held by virtue of the Lordship). If further proof of severance were needed, the Heath was subsequently sold on to the University of Oxford, with Brand retaining the Lordship. 
The University (Oxford University Chest) objected to the registration of CL 27 on the grounds that it was shown as tithable land (parcel no 82) on the Tithe Map of 1841. However, there exists an earlier map of the parish of Codicote – dated by the archivist at ‘circa 1800’ (see ref below) – showing the tithe areas as they were prior to the inclosure. The land parcels on this map are numbered differently from the areas recorded on the Tithe Map, thus confirming that it is from an independent source. CL 27 is shown as part of an unnumbered parcel and is listed, together with Radley and Potters Heaths, as non-tithable ‘heath land’. This confirms the commissioner’s opinion that the land was waste of the manor of Codicote prior to the inclosure award. On these grounds, CL 27 is now eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(3). 

Much the same would appear to be true of Three Hills (CL 26). As with Codicote Heath, CL 26 is shown on the Tithe Map of 1841 as tithable grassland (parcel nos 220 & 230). On the earlier map, however, the parcel forming the northern limb of CL 27 is unnumbered (i.e. non-tithable); whilst the southern limb is mapped as the non-tithable half of parcel no 263 (‘Part of the Hills’). CL 26, then, if it is still ‘waste land’, will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
[HALS Refs: Plan of the Parish of Codicote (Surveyor unknown) [c.1800] ~ 63743 (Book of reference: D/EHa (Add) P1);

Codicote Inclosure Award (Map related boundary dispute only incl in Award) (1819) ~ D/EHa(Add)/E1; Codicote Tithe Award and Map (1842/41) ~ DSA4/32/1 & 2]

Cottered
CL 103 (Pt) Brook End, Farm Green, Flanders Green, Scalgrave Graze and Manor Waste, Cottered (2.85 ha)
The registration was part-cancelled under a Decision by Consent (Reg 31) excluding the ‘Manor Waste’, which comprised the pieces of land ‘in or near the middle of the village’. This land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The ‘Manor Waste’ was excluded from the final registration under a Decision by Consent [16/D/6]. The reasons for this are not recorded (there was no requirement in the regulations that they should be). There is, however, a clue in the objection that was the original cause of the dispute. The objector was A H Hawker of Bowling Green Farm, Cottered, who claimed that CL 103 included land conveyed by the Lord of Manor in 1931 to a Charitable Trust under the provisions of the Recreation Grounds Act 1859. A plan of this land was in the possession of Cottered Parish Council. 

On 16 April 1987, a Hearing was held into the ownership of the part of CL 103 that was finally-registered. In spite of the comments received in response to the notice of the ownership referral, no-one attended the Hearing; and the commissioner ruled in his Decision Letter [216/U/83] that, as there was no known owner, the land should ‘remain subject to protection under section 9 of the Act of 1965’. It seems very probable, then, that the land owned by the Trust was the Manor Waste, though the plan held by the Parish Council would need to be examined to confirm this. If this is the case, it is also more than likely that – subject to the terms of the Recreation Grounds Act 1859 – the Manor Waste will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) as land held by virtue of the Lordship of the Manor prior to its conveyance to the Trust.
[HALS Refs: Cottered Inclosure Map (1810) ~ QS/E/23; Enlarged Inclosure Map (source for award map) (1807) ~ D/EX251/P1; Common Land Records ~ Objection files]

Croxley
CL 36 (Pt) Common Moor, Croxley (41.50 ha)
As the result of an objection by The British Waterways Board, it was agreed that the land adjoining the Grand Union Canal on the side opposite the towpath should be excluded from the registration. The commissioner confirmed this agreement. The excluded area may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
CL 36 was registered, together with CL 35, on the application of the Commoners of Croxley Green. There is nothing in the Decision Letter [216/D/1–2] about the nature of, or reasons for, the agreement concerning the excluded area. (NB reference in land section to Map 89B).
Great Amwell
CL 304 (W) Hertford Heath, Great Amwell (5.00 ha)
CL 304 was registered by Great Amwell Parish Council. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner and the land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).

The manorial status of this unit is confirmed by a printed plan of Hertford Heath produced in 1829 on which CL 304 is shown as part of the manor of Goldington. The plan records the boundaries of each manor (Great Amwell, Little Amwell and Goldington) and lists the individuals holding the ‘Headboroughs’ that defined the rights of grazing and estovers over the Heath. The plan is kept with a manorial court book. A separate copy is also available (see HALS refs below). In this light, if CL 304 is still ‘waste land’, it may now be re-registered under Schedule 2(4)(5).
[HALS Refs: Printed Plan of Hertford Heath, showing areas owned by various manors, lists of headboroughs and details of grazing rights (1829) ~ D/EHd/P9; Court Book (indexed), including Plan in D/EHd/P9 (1854–1928) ~ D/EHc/M8]
Great Gaddesden
CL 201 (W) Water End Moor, Great Gaddesden (0.76 ha)
CL 202 (C) Manorial waste at Water End, Great Gaddesden (0.50 ha)
CL 251 (W) Water End Moor, Great Gaddesden (0.49 ha)
These three units were registered by Hemel Hempstead RDC. CL 201 and CL 251 were cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The CL 202 registration was rejected [216/D/62] because no-one attended the Hearing and no evidence had been presented in support of it. There was a conflict between CL 202 and VG 42, but the VG registration was rejected on the same grounds. All three CL units, then, may be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The CL 251 objectors were the Trustees of the Gaddesden Estate (‘the land is not common’).
[HALS Refs: Great Gaddesden Tithe Award and Map (1839/38) ~ DSA4/40/1 & 2; Index and Memoranda Book to Manorial Courts including Great Gaddesden (1805–1923) ~ D/ELs/M3–5; Common Land Records ~ Maps CL 201 & CL 202, Box 2/3]

Hatfield
CL 270 (W) Four pieces of land near Woodside Place, Hatfield (2.26 ha)
CL 269 (W) Roe Green, Hatfield (0.77 ha)
Both registrations were made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but were cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The objector in each case was the Marquis of Salisbury. 

[HALS Refs: Hatfield Tithe Award and Map (1839/38) ~ DSA4/47/1 & 2]

Hemel Hempstead
CL 24 (Pt) Boxmoor & Dew Green Commons, Hemel Hempstead (53.10 ha)
The land was registered by The Boxmoor Trustees, who agreed to the exclusion of part of ‘The Fishery’ and the towing path of the Grand Union Canal. These areas may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). 
The land at the Fishery was purchased under the New Towns Act 1946 (Hemel Hempsted Development Corporation (No 7) Boxmoor Area CPO, 1951). It seems to have been developed as a sports pavilion and car park. The Towing path of the Grand Union Canal was excluded from the registration at the request of the British Waterways Board. Neither modification was referred to a commissioner. (NOTE: According to the most recent Scheme of Administration, the land is held by the Trustees ‘for the provision, in the interests of social welfare, of facilities for the recreation and other leisure time occupation of the residents of the area of benefit [in Bovindon and Hemel Hempstead]; subject to this use, the land shall be available for access for recreation by the public at large’. See: SI 2000 No 844, available at: www.uk-legislation.hmso.gov.uk/si/si-2000-index).

CL 78 (W) Shoothanger Common, Hemel Hempstead (8.38 ha)
CL 78 was registered by the Berkhamsted Citizens Association but the registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The main objectors were the Mayor, Aldermen & Burgesses of Hemel Hempstead, who owned most of the land. This was held ‘for the purposes of the 1937 Physical Training and Recreation Act 1937’ (see objection plan Land Reg Title No HD 34638).
CL 255 (W) Boxmoor Common, Hemel Hempstead (5.17 ha)
The registration was made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
Objection by Boxmoor and District Anglers Association, who denied there were any rights over the land they owned.
[HALS Refs: Boxmoor Trust Act 49 George III, c. 169 (1809) ~ D/EX496/Z1/2; Hemel Hempstead Tithe Award and Map (1843/ND) ~ DSA4/48/1 & 2; Common Land Records ~ Objection files]

Hertford Borough
CL 171 (Pt) Kings Mead (pt), Hertford (54.85 ha)
The land was registered by Hertfordshire and Middlesex Trust for Nature Conservation. The registration was part-cancelled, excluding three parcels of land and a stretch of the riverside, without referral to a commissioner. The excluded areas may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The land that failed to be finally-registered included a small area at the extreme western end of the Mead and two larger areas towards the east. In the case of the two eastern areas, the objectors were the Executors of W & R Wallace, Estate Office, Walmer Green, Knebworth (Lords of the Manor of Brickendon) – who claimed to own the freehold and to lease the land at a rent. Compra Plastics also objected to the registration of one of these eastern areas. The objector in respect of the riverside area (the towing path of the River Lea) was the British Waterways Board.
CL 313 (W) Part of Kings Mead adjacent to the River Lee, Hertford (0.45 ha)
CL 313 was registered by Hertfordshire and Middlesex Trust for Nature Conservation. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
Objection by Compra Plastics.
CL 4 (Pt) Kings Mead, Hertford (17.20 ha)
The land was registered by Hertford BC. The towing path of the River Lea Navigation was excluded from the registration in an agreement between the parties that was confirmed by the commissioner. The excluded area may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). 
The Mayor, Aldermen and Burgesses of Hertford are registered as owners of this unit.
[HALS Refs: [Plan of] Two Meadows called The Kings Meads belonging to the Borough of Hertford proportioned into Acres and lineally described by me Benjamin Hare December 12th 1632 (C18 cent copy of 1632) ~ ACC/2425; Hertford Inclosure Award and Map (1808) ~ QS/E/29 & 30]
Hexton
CL 318 (W) Old Chalk Pits to the south-east of Fanny’s Spinney, Hexton (1.90 ha)
CL 319 (W) Roadside waste to the east of the road south of Gravel Hill, Hexton (0.20 ha)
These CL units were registered by Hertfordshire and Middlesex Trust for Nature Conservation but both registrations were cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The objector in each case was J Ashley Cooper, Manor Farm, Hexton (‘the land is not common’). 

[HALS Refs: Hexton Inclosure Award (1767) ~ D/P51/26/1; Hexton Tithe Award and Map (1837) ~ DSA4/52/1 & 2; Hexton Inclosure Award and Map (1872) ~ QS/E/35]

Hitchin UD
CL 257 (W) Land bordering Old Hale Way, Hitchin UD (2.75 ha)
CL 258 (W) Land to the west of Cadwell Lane, Hitchin UD (1.45 ha)
These registrations were made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but were cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The objector in the case of CL 258 was Dorothy Perowne Parker 

[HALS Refs: Hitchin Tithe Award and Map (1841/4) ~ DSA4/53/1 & 2; Hitchin Inclosure Award (1866 & 1877) ~ QS/E/38 & 37]

Kelshall
CL 183 (C) Fears Green, Kelshall (0.76 ha)
The registration was rejected by the commissioner because no-one attended the Hearing and there was therefore no evidence to support it. There was a conflict with VG 78, but the VG registration (which covers only a part of CL 183) was rejected on the same grounds. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). 

[HALS Refs: Kelshall Inclosure Award and Map (1795–7) ~ D/P60/26/1)]

Kings Langley
CL 213 (W) Rucklers Green, Kings Langley (0.32 ha)
CL 213 was registered by Hemel Hempstead RDC. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
Rucklers Green comprises a short stretch of Rucklers Lane and the land lying between this section of the lane and a row of dwellings on either side. From the objection form submitted by L Green, it would seem that each of the occupiers claimed ownership of the land lying between his/her dwelling and the lane. The Green may, nevertheless, be eligible for re-registration; though this would depend on its manorial status and on the question of whether or not it was still ‘waste land’.
[HALS Refs: Tithe award and map. Apportionments, etc (1838–1927) ~ D/P64/27/1-27/4; Index and memoranda book to manorial courts including King's Langley (1805–1923) ~ D/ELs/M3-5; Common Land Records ~ Map CL 213, Box 2/3]

Langley
CL 315 (W) Rough pasture to the east of Hitch Wood, Langley (0.76 ha)
CL 315 was registered by Hertfordshire and Middlesex Trust for Nature Conservation. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner and the land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The objector was The St Pauls Walden Bury Estate Company as owners (land not common but part of Hitch Wood) 

CL 277 (W) Shilley Green, Langley (0.25 ha)
The registration was made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
Objector: The St Pauls Walden Bury Estate Company as owners (‘the land is not common’). 

CL 276 (Pt) Rush Green, Langley, North Herts (0.48 ha)
The registration was made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but was part-cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The excluded area may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The objector (to part of the land registration) was The St Pauls Walden Bury Estate Company. 

Little Munden
CL 162 (Pt) Land within the fork of the roads north of Little Munden (0.55 ha)
Status uncertain. According to the register entry this unit is undisputed/final.
The Decision Letter related to CL 162 [16/U/95] concerns the ownership of the area that was finally-registered. This land was found to have no known owner and was placed in the protection of the local authorities under s9 of the 1965 Act.
CL 163 (C) The Village Pond, Haultwick, Little Munden (0.06 ha)
The commissioner rejected the registration, which was made by Little Munden Parish Council. Although it had once been waste of the manor, the pond had been filled in and occupied as a garden since 1958.
Decision Letter: [16/D/9]. This land could only be considered for re-registration if it had subsequently reverted to waste.

CL 227 (W) The Timber Yard, Dane End, Little Munden (0.016 ha)
The land was registered by Little Munden Parish Council. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
[HALS Refs: Little Munden Tithe Award and Map (1840) ~ DSA4/71/1 & 2; Inclosure Award and Map (1852) ~ QS/E/49 & 52]

Meesden
CL 82 (W) Meesden Green (3.62 ha)
CL 82 was registered by Meesden Parish Meeting. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
Meesden Green lies in the centre of the village and was unaffected by the Inclosure Award of 1841 (which covered the outlying fields). Most of CL 82 is shown on the Tithe Map of 1840 as (unnumbered) non-tithable land; though it does seem to include part of parcel no 59 (land attached to a ‘homestead’). On these grounds, if the land can be shown to be ‘of a manor’, and if it is still unimproved ‘waste’, the greater part of CL 82 will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
[HALS Refs: Meesden Tithe Award and Map (1838/40) ~ DSA4/68/1 & 2; Meesden Inclosure Award and Map (1841) ~ QS/E/48; Manorial Court Books and minutes, papers, etc (1803–1930) ~ 65805–9]

Potters Bar UD
CL 243 (C) Entrance to Dyrham Park, Trotters Bottom, Hartsmere (0.39 ha)
The land was registered by Potters Bar UDC but the application was rejected at the Hearing. The commissioner did not consider whether the land was waste and it may now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4). 

The sole objection (Marquis of Salisbury) was withdrawn before the Hearing. However, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the commissioner ruled that the land formed part of the highway. He therefore refused to confirm the registration. As he did not consider whether the land was waste, it may now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4).
[HALS Refs: Sale particulars of Dyrham Park, Durhams Farm, Holmes Hill Farm and Valentines Farm (c. 1800) ~ D/ETr/T4]

Rickmansworth
CL 308 (C) Batchworth Heath (pt), Rickmansworth (0.60 ha)

The land was registered as the result of a rights application made by William Old Ltd. The applicant did not attend the Hearing but had written shortly before to request a cancellation. The registration was rejected on this basis. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
CL 308 lies on the eastern side of the registered area of Batchworth Heath (CL 19). The latter is owned by Three Rivers District Council the successor body to Rickmansworth UDC, who objected to the CL 308 land and rights registrations. The Heath is subject to a Scheme of Regulation under the 1899 Commons Act (MAF 30/71). This covers CL 19 but not CL 308. Both units, however, are shown on map sheet 19 of the 1839 Tithe Map as part of Batchworth Heath (parcel no 1787). This parcel is listed at p 20 of the Award as non-tithable ‘common or waste’. It may be helpful to have documentary evidence of manorial status, but there is no apparent reason why – if it is still ‘waste’ – CL 308 should not now be re-registered under Schedule 2(4)(5).
[HALS Refs: Rickmansworth Tithe Award and Map (1838/39) ~ DSA4/80/1 & Off Acc 550; Inclosure Award and Map (1859) ~ QS/E/60A & 60B; Index and Memoranda Book to Manorial Courts including Moor in Rickmansworth (1805–1923) ~ D/ELs/M3–5]

Rushden
CL 37 (Pt) Shaw Green, Rushden (3.25 ha)
From the register entry, the registration seems to have been modified without referral to a commissioner. The excluded area (2.03 ha) may be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
CL 37 was registered by the Trustees of the Manor of Rushden, who also claimed to be the owners. The manor (including CL 37 and other lands) had been conveyed to the Trust on 16 Feb 1931 with the intention that the land should be preserved as ‘open space for the purposes of the recreation of the inhabitants of Rushden’ [Decision Letter 16/U/52]. According to the register map, however, the northern part of CL 37 was not finally-registered as common land. There is no Decision Letter recording this part-cancellation, which must therefore have been made without referral to a commissioner. 

The Decision Letter referred to above [16/U/52] concerns the ownership of the land that was finally-registered. In this letter, the commissioner ruled that the ownership had passed to Streather Hayward Farms by virtue of adverse possession (on the grounds that the land had been in continuous cultivation since May 1958 without any interference on the part of the Trustees). 
On the basis that it is – or was at some time in the past – waste of the manor of Rushden, it would seem that the excluded land will now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). According to the application form submitted by the Trustees, ‘The common [i.e. Shaw Green] is shown as Open Country on the Access to Open Country Review Map prepared by the local planning authority under part V of the National Parks Act 1949’. However, the acreage entered in the application form (5.004 acres = 2.03 ha) is much smaller than the area of land shown on the register map (it corresponds, in fact, to the area that was excluded). It is also possible that the excluded area was cultivated in the same way as the land that was finally-registered. There is, then, a good deal of uncertainty surrounding this case, which clearly requires further investigation.
[HALS Refs: Rushden Tithe Award and Map (1845/6) ~ DSA4/83/1 & 2; Common Land Records ~ Application and objection files]

St Stephens
CL 267 (W) Sergehill, St Stephens (0.57 ha)
The registration was made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
CL 267 comprises land lying either side of an old carriageway (Featherbed Lane) running NE from Sergehill. The Lane became a cul-de-sac when the M1 motorway was constructed. There is a letter in the files from Lady Elizabeth Motion to the Planning Officer and County Archivist claiming ownership of the land, which is stated to have been part-planted as woodland by Lady Motion and her predecessors. 

[HALS Refs: Sale particulars: Serge Hill, Bedmond, residential, agricultural and sporting Estate formerly owned by Solly family (1919) ~ D/P63/29/10; Common Land Records ~ Objection files]

Sawbridgeworth
CL 84 (Pt) Allens Green, High Wych, Sawbridgeworth (0.93 ha)
The land was registered by High Wych Parish Council. The registration was part-cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The excluded part may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
A series of sketch-maps in the archive (see HALS ref below) would appear to show ‘Allens Green’ as part of the manor of Groves. If the excluded area is mapped and is still waste land it will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
[HALS Refs: Nine rough sketch-maps. No title or surveyor. 616a in SE of High Wych, S of Sawbridgeworth, being Saccombs Ash, Warren, Allens Green, Chandlers, Pennys, Bulls, Mabletts and Bakers Farms and Grove Lodge, all part of the Manor of Groves (early C19th) ~ 56318–56326; Sawbridgeworth Tithe Award and Map (1838/9) ~ DSA4/93/1 & 2]

Shenley
CL 293 (C) Manorial Waste by Shenleybury House, Shenley (0.10 ha)
Status uncertain. According to the register entry, this unit is undisputed/final.
According to the entry in the land section of the register the CL 293 registration was undisputed/final. However, part of the area shown on the register map is cancelled (purple hatching), with no indication that this is related e.g. to the Rectification of Registers Act 1989. (NB The s193 Deed applying to Rowley Green and the ‘Wastes of the Manor of Shenley’ (MAF 3/61) may be relevant to this case).
[HALS Refs: Shenley Tithe Award and Map (1840/ND) ~ DSA4/94/1 & 2; Common Land Records ~ s193 Map (MAF 3/61) (Loose Maps stored with Boxes)]

Stevenage UD
CL 229 (W) Cuckoo Wood Common, Stevenage UD (0.60 ha)
CL 229 was registered by Stevenage UDC. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner and the land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). 

CL 263 (W) Pin Green Common, Stevenage UD (0.30 ha)
The registration was made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
[HALS Refs: Stevenage Tithe Award and Map (1834) ~ DSA4/99/1 & 2; Inclosure Award and Map (1853/51) ~ QS/E/63A & 63B]

Tewin
CL 146 (W) Land Known as The Triangle at the Junction of Queen Hoo Lane & the Road to Bramfield, Tewin (0.20 ha)
CL 149 (Pt) Verges of Queen Hoo Lane and Tewin Hill, Tewin (0.625 ha)
CL 252 (W) Land west of the road from Tewin to Hertford & North of Flexleys Wood, Tewin (0.55 ha)
CL 253 (W) Land north of the B1000 road, Tewin (20.87 ha)
CL 254 (W) Westley Wood & an adjacent triangle of land, Tewin (2.00 ha)
Excepting CL 149, all of these areas were registered by Tewin Parish Council. The applications were all cancelled without referral to a commissioner and the land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). CL 149 was registered by Dr R M Puddifoot. A triangular area of land by the road junction (adjacent to CL 146) was excluded from the registration on the grounds that it was not subject to rights of common. The commissioner did not consider whether this land was waste. It may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4).
Most of these areas are shown on the Tithe Map of 1838 as tithable pasture – though this does not mean that they may not now be eligible for re-registration. However, for this to happen, it would need to be shown: (i) that the land is, or was at some time in the past, ‘of a manor’; and (ii) that it is still waste land. Unfortunately, there does not seem to be any record in the common-land files retained by the County Council of the reasons for the withdrawal of the Parish Council’s applications.

[HALS Refs: Plan of the Estate of Earl Cowper in the County of Hertford. Surveyor Ed Johnson (1809) ~ Book of Reference (D/EP/P33) & Map (D/EP/P34); The Right Honourable Earl Cowper’s Estates in Hertford. Surveyor Elijah Chambers (1833–1866) ~ D/EP/P49 & D/EP 1833 (Book of Plans); Tewin Tithe Award and Map (1838) ~ DSA4/101/1 & 2]

Therfield & Royston
CL 5 (W) Land South of Therfield Heath, Therfield & Royston (157.30 ha)
The CL 5 registration appears to have been withdrawn without referral, though there is no trace of this unit in the register. 
A scanned map of CL 5 was produced by The Geodata Institute during the mapping for Pt 1 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act (undertaken by the Institute on behalf of the Countryside Agency). This scan seems to be the only record of CL 5.
[HALS Refs: Therfield Tithe Award and Map (1840/43) ~ DSA4/102/1 & 2; Therfield Enclosure Map by Charles F Adams (1848) ~ DP/107/26/1; Commons Regulation (Therfield) Provisional Order Confirmation Act (51 & 52 Vict c. clix) (1888) ~ D/P107/26/2; Regulation/Inclosure Award and Map (1893) ~ QS/E/65]

Walkern
CL 67 (W) Walmans Green, Walkern (0.70 ha)
CL 67 was registered by Walkern Parish Council. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The Parish Council asked for the application to be cancelled when advised by the Trustees of the Walkern Hall Estate of its ownership of the land, which was claimed to have been enclosed ‘for a period in the past’. This implies that the land was not enclosed before that period. If it is still waste, and can be shown to be ‘of a manor’, it may now be eligible for re-registration.
CL 275 (W) Clay End Common, Walkern (0.50 ha)
The registration was made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
The objection by the Walkern Hall Estate claims ‘undisputed use and rights of access for at least 40 years’. Again, the implication is that this may not the have been the case 40 years previously. If the land is still waste, and can be shown to be ‘of a manor’, it may now be eligible for re-registration.
[HALS Refs: Walkern Tithe Award and Map (1838/39) ~ DSA4/108/1 & 2; Walkern Inclosure Award and Map (1849) ~ QS/E/68]

Watford
Cassiobridge Common (0.75 ha)
Cassiobridge Common was exempted from registration under s11 of the 1965 Act. It may therefore be eligible now for re-registration under Schedule 2(2).
Weston
CL 219 (W) Simons Green, Weston (0.71 ha)
CL 219 was registered by Weston Parish Council. The registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). 

The objection - by the Trustees of the Weston Settlement – was that the CL 219 land was allotted to Robert Clutterbuck as freehold under an Inclosure Award of 6 Nov 1797 (this is in fact the date of the Act) and that the registration was therefore invalid. It may well be that the land was waste of the manor of Weston prior to the Inclosure Award (see HALS ref below). If this proved to be the case, and the land was still ‘waste’, it would be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5)
CL 220 (C) Lannock Hill Chalk Pit, Weston
CL 220 was registered by Weston Parish Council. The registration was cancelled by the commissioner on the grounds that the land was not subject to rights of common. It may therefore now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4).

The registration was objected to by the Trustees of the Weston Settlement. Although it was allotted as a public stone pit under the Inclosure Award of 1801, the land had by 1944 been filled and covered with topsoil and was now let by the Rural District Council to tenants (the objectors). Strictly speaking, the commissioner did not consider whether the land was waste but rejected the application on the grounds that it was no longer subject to any rights of common that may have existed in the past [Decision Letter 16/D/11]. If the land were shown to be ‘waste’ now, it would be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4).

CL 322 (W) The Village Green, Weston (0.18 ha)
CL 323 (W) Red Lion Green, Weston (0.025 ha)
These two units were registered as a result of rights applications. The registrations were cancelled without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
[HALS Refs: Weston Inclosure Award and Map (1801/1797) ~ QS/E/73 & 78430; Weston Tithe Award and Map (1847) ~ 26875]

Wheathampsted
CL 268 (W) Cutts Green, Wheathampstead (0.74 ha)
The registration was made by the Commons Registration Authority, Hertfordshire CC, but was withdrawn without referral to a commissioner. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
Cutts Green was included in a s193 Deed of Declaration – granting rights of access to members of the public – made by the Ecclesiastical Commissioners on 26 July 1928 (MAF 3/60). The Deed was part-revoked by Wheathampsted Parish Council, the then Lords of the Manor, on 18 Mar 1953; though the revocation seems to have affected only a small area taken for the construction of a public convenience on Nomansland Common. Under the terms of s193(2), CL 268 must have been subject to rights of common at the time of the original Deed; though these rights, had they survived, would now have lapsed by virtue of their non-registration under the 1965 Act. According to the 1928 Deed, the Ecclesiastical Commissioners claimed ownership as Lords of the Manor of Wheathampsted and Harpenden of the soil of ‘certain waste land’ (including CL 268). This in itself may be considered proof enough of the manorial status of CL 268 (but see also reference below for 1799 plan of the manor). If, then, the land is still ‘waste land’, CL 268 will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).

[HALS Refs: Photocopy Plan of manor of Wheathampstead in the possession of Westminster Abbey (1799) ~ CP109/29/2; Wheathampstead Tithe Award and Map (1840/41) ~ DSA4/116/1 & 2; Common Land Records ~ s193 Deed and Map (MAF 3/60), Box 3/3 & Loose Maps stored with Boxes]
Land finally-registered as a Village Green
CL 70 (Pt) Tracts of land in the parish of Ickleford, North Herts (32.00 ha)
The excluded area (2.0 ha) was registered as part of VG 13.

CL 88 (W) Broxbourne Recreation Ground, Hoddesdon UD (4.13 ha)

The CL 88 land was registered as VG 49.

CL 111 (C) The Recreation Ground, Therfield (1.90 ha)
The CL 111 land was registered as VG 69 under a Decision by Consent (Reg 31)

The Recreation Ground was created under the Commons Regulation (Therfield) Provisional Order Confirmation Act (1888) by an Award of 1893. This involved an exchange of 10 ha of Therfield Heath – an area at the western end of the Heath along its southern border, marked in red on the Award Map – for 1.90 ha of land adjacent to the village. The latter was vested in the Conservators to be held as a public recreation ground.

[HALS Refs: Regulation/Inclosure Award and Map (1893) ~ QS/E/65]
CL 140 (C) The north-west portion of Upper Green, Ickleford (0.08 ha)
The CL 140 land was registered as VG 13
CL 148 (Pt) Bulls Green, Tewin (3.70 ha)
The greater part of the land was registered as VG 70. The remainder was a small area in the parish of Datchworth that had apparently been registered by mistake (it was covered by houses). 

CL 188 (C) Tewin Upper Green (3.80 ha)
The CL 188 land was registered as VG 56.
HERTFORDSHIRE ARCHIVES: COMMON LAND RECORDS

1. Applications Files

There are thirteen binders containing these files, which are arranged by application number (->930) – though, within each binder, the numbering is ‘back-to-front’ (i.e. the highest number is to be found at the front of the binder). The application numbers form a single sequence which includes both CL and VG units. An additional binder (no 14) contains details of (i) applications for additions to/removals from the register under s13 of the 1965 Act (land becoming or ceasing to be common land/a village green); (ii) applications for notes to be made in the land section of the register (on e.g. wayleaves, mineral rights); (iii) details of Hertfordshire CC ownership claims (all dated 10/2/72). There do not seem to be any records for land registered ‘without application’ by Hertfordshire CC as the Commons Registration Authority – there is no ‘application number’ for the units registered in this way.
2. Objections Files

There are three binders. Two contain the objections files. A third contains drafts for/copies of the objections entries to be found in the registers. As with the applications files (above) the arrangement in the first two binders is by objection number (1–75; 76–132), with the numbering in each binder arranged ‘back-to-front’. An INDEX at the front of the second binder provides a ‘key’ cross-referencing the application numbers and objection numbers to the relevant CL numbers. This information would otherwise only be available by referring to the entries for individual CL and VG units in the Registers. Though the index is incomplete, it has proved possible to fill out the empty entries and to add references for the relevant register-map sheet numbers. A completed INDEX – covering the land that may be eligible for re-registration – is available as an MSWord Table. The Table can be re-sorted, using the MSWord ‘Table-sort’ function, under the preferred ‘key field’ (i.e. by application, objection, map-sheet or CL number).
3. Draft Register Entries

Four Binders containing drafts for/copies of entries in the registers (x 149). The arrangement of the files is by application number (including both CLs and VGs); though, again, the numbering in each binder is ‘back-to-front’. The files include maps submitted as ‘exhibits’ with the original application (see note at Box 2/3 below).

4.  Box 1/3

The contents of this box include the following:

(1). Copies Public Record Office (PRO) Class Lists for MAF 3 and MAF 30 (buff folder). The extracts in the folder show the parts of the lists relevant to Hertfordshire. They relate to and provide details for the maps to be found in Box 3/3 and the ‘loose maps’ stored with the boxes (see below). The folder itself also contains details of the individual CL and VG units affected. The MAF 3 list covers s193 of the Law of Property Act 1925 (Deeds and Orders); MAF 30 the 1899 Commons Act (Schemes of Regulation). The numbering for each entry in the lists needs to be read as a sub-division of the PRO class number – so that, for example, the first entry in the MAF 3 class list (’50 ~ Aldbury Village Green’) should be read as ‘MAF 3/50 ~ Aldbury Village Green’. These class-list numbers are noted on the reverse of the ‘loose maps’ included in or with the boxed records described below. The notes to the right of the lists show the CL & VG units (and also the unregistered land) affected. Further investigation of the unregistered areas may well show that they should now be re-registered.

(2). Various commons-related texts including Harris & Ryan, Clayden (OSS) and the Report of the Royal Commission on Common Land. There are also several copies of the official Explanatory Booklet produced and distributed in 1966 by the Ministry of Land and Natural Resources to explain the workings of the Act and the registration process to members of the public, interested parties, etc. The booklet is written in language intended for the layman and offers a very informative outline of the Act and the registration process.

(3). (Blue folder) Copies of 1965 Act, Regulations, Government Circulars, etc – including Circular 2/65, which is referred to in the Explanatory Booklet at (2) above as a source of further information.

(4). Survey Book (1957). This is based on the review undertaken in 1957 by Hertfordshire CC for the Royal Commission on Common Land. The book seems to comprise bound, reduced – and almost illegible – copies of the forms returned to the Royal Commission giving details of the areas identified by HCC as common land. The forms employ a standard set of headings: [Name ~ Size ~ Description ~ Access ~ Rights ~ Ownership ~ Control ~ Regulation ~ Public Use ~ Agricultural Use ~ Remarks]; and are arranged by borough, urban district and rural district. The original returns are held at The National Archives (MAF 96/212).

(5). Large bundle of common rights statements for Aldbury Common, recording an agreement on the nature and extent of the rights over the land made between the National Trust and the Parish Council/commoners in January 1937. The agreed rights are to take wood, fern and gorse and chalk from the chalk pit(s). The right to take wood applies only to fallen wood and does not extend to Rail Copse or Old Copse. This and related NT agreements seem to have provided the basis for the exclusion of certain areas of land from final registration.

(6). Full index of CL numbers and register-map sheet numbers.

(7). Two (buff) folders containing (i) ‘Forms’; and (ii) unsorted, duplicate maps.

5.  Box 2/3

(1). Two large (buff) folders containing Commons Commissioners’ Decisions, Notices of Final Disposal, etc.

(2). Large original maps covering the following CL and VG units: CL 1, CL 3, CL 33 (pt), CL 44, CL 177 (2 x Maps), CL 179 (2 x Maps), CL 192–8 (1 x Map), CL 198–9 (1 x Map), CL 200–3, CL 204–13 (1 x Map), CL 239, VG 75 (2 x Maps), VG 79, VG 85 & VG 86. Some of these may be the ‘exhibit’ maps submitted with the original application. These maps are often referred to by the commissioners in their Decision Letters in defining (e.g.) the land that was and was not to be registered (and they may therefore provide the ‘base-maps’ for the register map).

(3). Commons Search Registers. Comprises five books related to search requests made over the period 1979–95.

6.  Box 3/3

(1). One large (buff) folder containing Decisions, Notices, etc of the Commons Commissioners. This forms part of the same series as the two buff folders in Box 2/3 above.

(2). Maps in PRO ‘MAF’ series. All of these maps but one are for Schemes of Regulation under the 1899 Commons Act. The odd-one-out (MAF 3/57) relates to s193 and should be with the loose maps described below.
(3). Bundle of plans related to Ring Road A1/A10 (South Mimms).
7.  ‘Loose Maps’ Stored with Boxes

These are largely maps concerning s193 of the Law of Property Act 1925. They show, amongst other things, the non-urban areas in Hertfordshire that are subject to public access as the result of a voluntary dedication (commons in urban areas are automatically subject to s193). The maps relate to both Deeds of Declaration and Orders of Limitation. The latter might apply to either an urban or a rural common. (These maps are important because a Deed of Declaration (dedication) could only be made where the land was subject to rights of common. If land of this kind failed to be registered under the 1965 Act (e.g. CL 268, Cutts Green, Wheathampstead) it is very likely indeed that it will qualify for re-registration now).

TRANSPOSITION OF PRO CLASS LISTS (BOX 1/3)

Section 193 Deeds of Declaration and Orders of Limitation

	
	CL/VG No
	Name
	MAF Series No

	
	CL 16
	Harpenden Common and Hatching Green [Deed]
	MAF 3/182

	
	CL 20
	Hertford Heath, Amwell [Deed & Order]
	MAF 3/51–2

	
	CL 28
	Kinsbourne Green, Harpenden Rural [Deed]
	MAF 3/59

	
	CL 47, etc
	Berkhamsted Commons [Deed & Order]
	MAF 3/53–4

	
	CL 93
	Colney Heath, North Mimms [Deed & Order]
	MAF 3/55–6

	
	CL 123, 126, 127, 131
	Marshall's Heath, Bower Heath, Gustard Wood and Nomansland Common [Deed & Partial Revocation] (**Includes CL 268, Cutts Green, which was not finally-registered)
	MAF 3/60

	
	VG 18
	Aldbury Village Green [Deed]
	MAF 3/50

	
	VG 20–24
	Cole, Cumberland, Staines, Birch, Letty & East End Greens, Hertingfordbury [Deed & Order]
	MAF 3/57–8

	
	Unregistered?
	Rowley Green, Shenley [Deed (1930 (Sept 19))]
	MAF 3/61


Schemes of Regulation under the Commons Act 1899

	
	CL No
	Name
	MAF Series No

	
	CL 1
	Smug Oak [Approved: 1915 (Aug 31)]
	MAF 30/179

	
	CL 1
	Black Green [Approved: 1925 (May 12)]
	MAF 30/179

	
	CL 1
	Brickett Wood [Approved: 1932 (Sept 14)]
	MAF 30/179

	
	CL 6
	Roe Green [Approved: 1929 (Oct 17)]
	MAF 30/73

	
	CL 7
	Ellen Green [Approved: 1954 (Nov 29)]
	MAF 30/73

	
	CL 8
	Lye Green [Approved: 1936 (June 8)]
	MAF 30/73

	
	CL 9
	Green End [Approved: 1952 (Aug 28)]
	MAF 30/73

	
	CL 10
	Blagrove Common [Approved: 1932 (Sept 14)]
	MAF 30/73

	
	CL 11
	Moon Mead [Approved: 1936 (June 8)]
	MAF 30/73

	
	CL 12
	Notley Green [Approved: 1953 (July 20)]
	MAF 30/73

	
	CL 13
	Churchend Green [Approved: 1954 (Nov 29)]
	MAF 30/73

	
	CL 14
	Cannock Green [Approved: 1921 (May 6)]
	MAF 30/73

	
	CL 15
	Fishers Green [Approved: 1952 (Aug 28)]
	MAF 30/76

	
	CL 19, 125
	Batchworth Heath [Approved: 1956 (Mar 28)]
	MAF 30/71

	
	CL 34, 241
	Bernards Heath [Approved: 1915 (Apr 9)]
	MAF 30/72

	
	CL 34, 241
	Bernards Heath, St Albans [Approved: 1965 (July 15)]
	HLG 65/3

	
	CL 44
	Chorleywood [Approved: 1922 (Apr 11)]
	MAF 30/222

	
	CL 44
	Chorleywood [Approved: 1954 (Nov 29)]
	MAF 30/75

	
	CL 49
	Butts Close, Sandons Common [Approved: 1921 (May 6)]
	MAF 30/221

	
	CL 50
	Walsworth [Approved: 1921 (Mar 31)]
	MAF 30/182

	
	CL 51
	Oughton Head [Approved: 1953 (July 20)]
	MAF 30/221

	
	CL 64, 131
	Nomansland Common [Approved: 1953 (July 20)] [Minister's consent added 1962 (Mar 26)]
	MAF 30/79

	
	CL 85
	Redbourn Common [Approved: 1929 (Oct 17)]
	MAF 30/80

	
	CL 124
	Watford Heath [Approved: 1912 (Dec 5)]
	MAF 30/183

	
	CL 210
	Chipperfield Common [Approved: 1939 (May 24)]
	MAF 30/74

	
	CL 211
	Kings Langley Common [Approved: 1936 (June 8)]
	MAF 30/78

	
	CL 239
	Roadside Waste in Sandpit Lane, St Albans [Approved: 1915 (Aug 31)]
	MAF 30/181

	
	Exempt
	Cassiobridge Common [Approved: 1913 (May 21)]
	MAF 30/180

	
	Exempt
	Cassiobridge Common [Approved: 1966 (Dec 29)]
	HLG 65/14

	
	Unregistered
	Hartham [Approved: 1902 (May 17)]
	MAF 30/77

	
	Unregistered
	Six Hills [Approved: 1915 (Aug 31)]
	MAF 30/76

	
	Unregistered
	Bedwell Plash [Approved: 1920 (Oct 6)]
	MAF 30/178

	
	Unregistered
	Letchmore Green [Approved: 1936 (June 8)]
	MAF 30/76

	
	Unregistered
	Norton Green [Approved: 1953 (July 20)]
	MAF 30/76


	Commons Act 2006: Schedule 2(4)
Waste land of a manor not registered as common land

(1) If a commons registration authority is satisfied that any land not registered as common land or as a town or village green is land to which this paragraph applies, the authority shall, subject to this paragraph, register the land as common land in its register of common land.

(2) This paragraph applies to land which at the time of the application under sub-paragraph (1) is waste land of a manor and where, before the commencement of this paragraph—

(a) the land was provisionally registered as common land under section 4 of the 1965 Act;

(b) an objection was made in relation to the provisional registration; and 

(c) the provisional registration was cancelled in the circumstances specified in sub-paragraph (3), (4) or (5).

(3) The circumstances in this sub-paragraph are that—

(a) the provisional registration was referred to a Commons Commissioner under section 5 of the 1965 Act;

(b) the Commissioner determined that, although the land had been waste land of a manor at some earlier time, it was not such land at the time of the determination because it had ceased to be connected with the manor; and

(c) for that reason only the Commissioner refused to confirm the provisional registration.

(4) The circumstances in this sub-paragraph are that—

(a) the provisional registration was referred to a Commons Commissioner under section 5 of the 1965 Act;

(b) the Commissioner determined that the land was not subject to rights of common and for that reason refused to confirm the provisional registration; and

(c) the Commissioner did not consider whether the land was waste land of a manor.

(5) The circumstances in this sub-paragraph are that the person on whose application the provisional registration was made requested or agreed to its cancellation (whether before or after its referral to a Commons Commissioner).

(6) A commons registration authority may only register land under subparagraph (1) acting on—

(a) the application of any person made before such date as regulations may specify; or

(b) a proposal made and published by the authority before such date as regulations may specify.




�  For the text of Schedule 2(4) see Appendix II.





